IN THE SUPREME COURT OF LORIDA SID J. WHITE

GEORGE PORTER,

Defendant/Appellant,)

vs .

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Plaintiff/Appellee.

FEB 2 1989

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 72,301

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 (904)252 - 3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 28, 1986, the grand jury in and for Brevard County returned an indictment charging Appellant, George Porter, Jr., with the first degree murders of Evelyn Williams and Walter Burrows in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a)1, Florida Statutes (1987), armed burglary with a firearm in violation of Sections 810.02(1) and (2)(b), Florida Statutes (1987) and aggravated assault with a firearm in violation of Section 784.021(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1987). (R2578-2579) The trial court appointed Dr. J. Lloyd Wilder and Dr. David Greenblum to examine Appellant pursuant to Rules 3.210 and 3.211, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, in an effort to determine his competency to stand trial. (R2662-2664) Dr. Constance Kay was also appointed to determine Appellant's competency to stand trial. (R2671-2673)

Appellant proceeded to jury trial on the charges on December 1, 1987, with the Honorable John Antoon, Circuit Judge, presiding. (R1-1453) On December 5, 1988, Appellant announced his intention to enter pleas of guilty to all charges. (R1469, 2752,2753-2755) After conducting an inquiry, Judge Antoon determined that the pleas were freely and voluntarily made, that Appellant was alert, able and intelligent and that a factual basis existed for the pleas. (R1522-1523) Judge Antoon accepted the guilty pleas. (R2751,1523,2755)

On December 10, 1987, pursuant to motion by the state,
Judge Antoon again appointed Doctors Wilder and Kay to examine
Appellant to determine his competency. (R2758-2760) On January
4, 1988, Appellant filed a motion to withdraw his guilty pleas.
(R2761) On January 14, 1987, Judge Antoon conducted a hearing on
Appellant's motion and denied the same. (R1652-1775,1780-1781,
2766-2767)

On January 21, 1988, Appellant proceeded to trial in the penalty phase. (R1776-2280) Following deliberations, the jury returned advisory verdicts recommending imposition of the death penalty for both murders. (R2764-2765) On March 4, 1988, Appellant appeared before Judge Antoon who adjudicated him guilty of all four offenses and imposed the following sentences:

Count I, first degree murder of Evelyn Williams - death;
Count 11, first degree murder of Walter Burrows - life
imprisonment with a mandatory minimum 25 years before
parole eligibility;

Count III, armed burglary - life imprisonment;

Count IV, aggravated assault - five years in prison.

(R2452-2460,2775-2786,2787-2792) Judge Antoon filed written findings of fact in support of the imposition of the death

penalty. (R2775-2786) Judge Antoon also filed written reasons for departure from the recommended guideline sentence. (R2793-2795)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on March 8, 1986. (R2773) The state filed a notice of cross-appeal on March 10, 1986. (R2774) Appellant was adjudged insolvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him on appeal. (R2772,2798)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In 1985, Appellant met Evelyn Williams at a dance at the Royal Motor Lodge in Melbourne. (R658) Eventually they became involved in an intimate relationship and Appellant moved into Williams' home. (R1831) However, virtually from the start of this relationship, Appellant did not get along with Williams' daughter, Amber, or her sons Glen and John. (R562,1840) October, 1985, Williams went to visit her sister. (R703) Although Appellant had permission to stay in the house, Amber Williams locked him out. (R1832-1834) An altercation ensued during which Amber threatened Appellant with a .357 Magnum and Appellant was forced to leave the house. (R563-564,703-704,1834-1835) When Evelyn Williams returned, she resumed her relationship with Appellant and at one point moved in with him for approximately one month. (R565-566,705) An incident occurred in April, 1986, which caused Williams to contact the police. (R706) that, Williams moved back to her own home and she and Appellant never cohabitated again. (R566,706)

In July, 1986, further problems arose between Appellant and Williams. (R583,707) Appellant damaged Williams' car and windows while she was at work. (R1973-1974) Appellant telephoned various members of Williams' family and threatened to kill Williams and the entire family. (R707-709,660-665,817-821) Shortly after these incidents, Appellant moved to Michigan and no one in the Williams family had any further contact with him until October, 1986. (R587,666,713,1014,1926) During this time

period, Williams began a relationship with Walter Burrows. (R587-588,713)

In early October, 1986. Appellant returned to Brevard County and stayed for a couple of days with Ron Adams and Nancy Sherwood. (R1324-1325) Two or three days before Williams' death, Appellant telephoned Williams' mother (Lora Mae Meyer) and asked her to call Williams and see if she would talk to him. (R667) Appellant told Meyer he had a gift for Williams. Meyer told Appellant that Williams wanted nothing from him and did not want to see or talk to him. (R668) Meyer called Williams and when Appellant again called Meyer, she confirmed that Williams would not accept a gift from Appellant. (R669) On October 8, 1986, the day before Williams was killed, Meyer observed Appellant driving a brown van through the trailer park where she lived. (R669-670) Appellant was also observed driving by Williams' house the two days prior to her death. (R1030,1043-1044)

On October 8, 1986, Appellant made contact with Williams which resulted in Williams filing a report against Appellant with the police. (R714) Because Williams feared Appellant, she arranged to have Burrows take her to work the next morning. (R717) On the evening of October 8, 1986, Appellant was observed at the Rocket Bar in the early hours. (R1196,1218) Appellant was in a good mood and did not appear to be intoxicated. (R1197-1198,1219) Later, Appellant went to the Memory Lane Lounge where he negotiated to sell his van to Lawrence Litus, the owner. (R1363,1367) Litus gave Appellant \$100 deposit and arranged to

meet Appellant at the bar the following morning to complete the transaction. (R1369) Appellant spent the night at the home of a friend, Lawrence Jury. (R1014-1015,2081) According to Jury, Appellant was quite drunk by 11:00 p.m. (R2081)

Amber Williams awoke on October 9, 1986 at approximately 5:30 a.m. when she heard two gunshots. (R728) Amber ran down the hallway to the kitchen and fell to the floor. (R728,730) As she fell, Amber saw Appellant standing over the body of her mother. (R730,1800) Appellant came toward Amber, pointed a small gun at her head and said "boom, boom, you're going to die." (R732-734,1801) As Amber ducked her head in fear, Burrows came in and struggled with Appellant forcing him outside. (R734-735,1801-1804) Amber heard a shot, ran to her mother and then ran to the door and shut it. (R1804,734) Amber's mother's eyes were open in a fixed stare. (R742,1805) Amber believes that her mother was still alive because she moved her arm towards her. (R741,1805) After locking the door, Amber called 911. (R742,1807)

John Williams, who lived three houses away from his mother, awoke at 5:30 a.m. and heard three gunshots. (R589) He got dressed and went outside to find police cars arriving in front of his mother's house. (R590) John went to his mother's house and saw Burrows lying face down in the front lawn. (R591) As John arrived, Amber came outside crying hysterically. (R591-592) John took Amber to his house where she gave a statement to the police concerning Appellant. (R592,746-748,910)

When the police arrived, neither Williams nor Burrows were alive. (R871-872) The medical examiner performed autopsies

on both bodies. (R931-932) Evelyn Williams died of massive hemorrhaging caused by gunshot wounds to the right chest. (R954-955) There were four distinct entrance wounds in Williams' body caused by three or four shots. (R941,943) Williams lived only minutes. (R954-955) Walter Burrows died from massive internal bleeding caused by a gunshot wound to the left back. (R962) Burrows died shortly after being shot. (R961)

At 6:10 a.m. Marian Litus observed a brown van driven by Appellant pull up to the Memory Lane Bar. (R1258) observed Appellant apparently cleaning up the van. (R1261) Appellant walked from the van, to the dumpster and back to the van. (R1262) When the bar opened at 7:00 a.m., Appellant came to the walk-up window and bought a bottle of liquor and a bottle of beer. (R1264-1265) Lawrence Litus arrived about 7:05 a.m. and paid Appellant the balance he owed for the van. Appellant asked Litus for a ride which he gave him. (R1370) Appellant arrived at Karen Noland's house between 8:00 a.m. and 8:30 a.m. and had coffee. (R1421) Appellant told Noland he had to hang some doors that morning, (R1421) Appellant did not appear intoxicated. (R1422) She left him about 8:45 a.m. when she left for work. (R1422)

Later that morning, Appellant went to the American Legion where he ordered a sandwich and a beer. (R1434,1440,1450) He appeared normal and not intoxicated. (R1441,1451) Appellant got up from the bar and walked to the windows where he saw several police cars gathering outside. (R1443,1453) Appellant went back to the bar, took a bite of his sandwich and walked out.

(R1443,1453) As Appellant left, the bartender yelled to him that she would see him later to which Appellant responded "No, I don't think you will." (R1444)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I: Although a defendant may enter a plea of guilty to a capital offense, such pleas should not be accepted where the accused denies facts which are essential to the commission of the crime. Prior to sentencing a defendant should be permitted to withdraw a guilty plea upon proper motion if the evidence shows that such plea was entered under mental weakness, fear or other circumstances affecting the defendant's rights. The evidence shows that Appellant entered his plea as a direct result of threats against his son if Appellant persisted with the trial. Under such circumstances Appellant should be permitted to withdraw the pleas.

<u>POINT 11:</u> The standard jury instructions in the penalty phase are misleading and erroneous in that they diminish the importance of the jury's role in the sentencing process. Over Appellant's timely objection, the trial judge improperly instructed the jury thus tainting the jury recommendation.

<u>POINT 111</u>: Section 921.141(5)(h), Florida Statutes (1987) which provides that a court may find as an aggravating circumstance that the murder was heinous, atrocious and cruel is unconstitutionally vague. This circumstance fails to adequately inform juries what they must find to impose the death penalty and thus allows for the imposition of the death penalty in an arbitrary and capricious manner.

Assuming, <u>arguendo</u>, that (5)(h) is constitutional the evidence in the instant case fails to show that the capital

felony was accompanied by such additional acts so as to set the crime apart from the norm of capital felonies. There is no evidence that Appellant tortured his victim or that she suffered in a great deal of pain.

POINT IV: In order to sustain a finding that the capital felony was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner the state must prove a careful plan or prearranged design to effect the death of the victim. While the evidence showed that Appellant may have threatened the victim some three months prior to the actual killing, such threats were not part of a carefully designed plan to commit murder.

POINT V: Even assuming the existence of valid aggravating circumstances and the absence of mitigating circumstances, the death penalty is inappropriate if under the totality of circumstances the death penalty would be disproportionate to the crime for which it is imposed. In the instant case, the trial judge has stated on the record that the existence of two aggravating circumstances not challenged herein do not warrant imposition of the death penalty.

<u>POINT VI</u>: Although this Court has previously objected numerous attacks to the constitutionality of the death penalty in Florida, Appellant urges reconsideration particularly in light of the evolving body of caselaw which in some cases has served to invalidate the very basic premises on which the death penalty was upheld in the State of Florida.

POINT I

IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9, 16 AND 22 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONS THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ACCEPTING APPELLANT'S GUILTY PLEAS AND DENYINS HIS MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS GUILTY FLEAS.

Appellant's jury trial began on December 1, 1987. December 5, 1987, Appellant abruptly announced to the Court his desire to immediately terminate the trial by entering quilty pleas to all the charges. (R1469-1475) Judge Antoon first determined that Appellant was competent to make this decision without benefit of counsel, pursuant to Faretta V. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975). (R1486-1491) Judge Antoon then conducted a plea colloquy. He determined that Appellant was 54 years old and had a third grade education. (R1492) Appellant can read, write, speak and understand the English language. (R1493) Appellant was not under the influence of drugs or alcohol. (R1493) Appellant refused to comment on the treatment he had received by the court or court personnel or on whether he felt the proceedings had been conducted in a fair manner. (R1493) Appellant acknowledged that he read, understood and signed a petition to enter a plea of guilty to the charge. (R1494-1496, 2753-2755) Appellant understood the nature of the charges and the maximum and minimum penalties for the charges. (R1496-1499) Appellant stated that no one had used threats, force, pressure or intimidation to persuade him to enter the pleas and no one had promised him anything in return. (R1499) He was pleading guilty to the murder of Evelyn Williams because

he felt it was in his best interests to do so. (R1499-1500) When it came time to establish a factual basis for the pleas, Appellant states "I'm not saying that I didn't kill Mr. Burrows, I probably did; but I didn't kill Mrs. Williams, this I do know.'' (R1501-1502) At that point Judge Antoon indicated an unwillingness to accept the plea. (R1502-1503) After consulting with his stand-by counsel, Appellant indicated his insistence on pleading guilty but informed the court that he would not supply afactual basis for the charges (R1504-1505) The state then supplied the factual basis. (R1507-1509) Appellant understood the rights he was giving up by entering his pleas. (R1514-1518) Appellant stated he decided to change his plea because he was tired and wanted to get it over with. (R1521) Judge Antoon accepted Appellant's pleas after determining Appellant was alert, able and intelligent and understood the nature of the charges and the consequences of the pleas. (R1522-1523)

On December 8, 1987, the State of Florida petitioned the court to appoint psychiatrists to examine Appellant to determine his competency because "the defendant's demeanor and conduct cast doubts upon his present mental condition." (R2756-2757) The trial court granted the motion and Appellant was examined by Dr. Constance Kay and Dr. J. Lloyd Wilder. (R2758-2760,2800,2802-2803)

On January 4, 1988, Appellant filed a motion to withdraw his plea alleging that on the day he entered the pleas he had received threats of reprisals against his son and he was severely depressed and suicidal. (R2761) On January 14, 1988, Judge

Antoon held a hearing on the motion to withdraw the plea. (R1652-1775)

Appellant testified that on the night before he entered the pleas, he was told by some jail guards and an inmate that if he continued with the trial, something bad would happen to his eleven year old son who resides with his mother in Palm Bay.

(R1661-1664) Appellant became quite depressed and decided to commit suicide. (R1656) When he got to court the next day he decided to change his plea so he could get back to the jail and commit suicide, (R1656) That night Appellant threw himself head first from the second level onto the concrete floor. (R1659) He tried twice but succeeded only in breaking his leg. (R1659-1660) Officer Heaslet was the first to reach Appellant and at first Appellant told her he fell down the steps. (R1688-1689) However, that did not appear possible and a short while later, Appellant admitted he had jumped. (R1689,1693)

Dr. Lloyd Wilder examined Appellant in the hospital after he attempted to commit suicide. (R1707) Despite the suicide attempt, Appellant did not appear depressed or mentally impaired. (R1710-1711) Appellant told Dr. Wilder that he entered the pleas because if he had continued someone he loved would have been hurt. (R1715) Dr. Wilder did not think Appellant was imagining this. (R1717) While Appellant may have been sad or disappointed, Dr. Wilder believed that Appellant was still able to make a knowing and intelligent entry of a plea. (R1712)

Judge Antoon denied the motion to withdraw pleas.

(R1780-1781,2766-2767) Judge Antoon found that Appellant had

entered the pleas freely with no threats or coercion. Appellant's decision to enter the plea was unimpaired by mental illness. No good cause was shown for allowing Appellant to withdraw his plea. (R2766-2767)

A defendant may enter a plea of quilty to a capital Chatman v. State, 225 So.2d 576 (Fla. 2d DCA 1969); offense. Washington v. State, 362 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1978). However, a quilty plea should not be accepted where an accused denies facts which are essential to the commission of the crime even though the facts may be presented elsewhere in the record. Thacker v. State, 313 So.2d 426 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975) cert. denied, 327 So.2d 35 (Fla. 1976). A trial court has the discretion to reject a plea of guilty where the same is not voluntary by one competent to know the consequences, or is induced by fear, misapprehension, persuasion, promises, inadvertence or ignorance. Reyes v. Kelly, 224 So.2d 303 (Fla. 1969). In the instant case, the record of the change of plea hearing reveals that although Appellant stated he wanted to plead guilty, he maintained he did not kill Evelyn Williams. (R1501-1502) Judge Antoon recognized the impropriety of accepting a plea under those circumstances. (R1502-1503) Appellant insisted upon pleading guilty but refused to supply any factual basis for the pleas. (R1504-1505) While appreciating the trial court's position, Appellant maintains that in light of Appellant's responses and demeanor during the plea hearing, the trial court should not have accepted the pleas.

In <u>Scarborough v. State</u>, 278 So.2d 657 (Fla. 2d DCA 1973) the court affirmed the conviction following entry of a

guilty plea despite the fact that at the plea hearing the defendant testified he was innocent. However, the court noted that by entering the plea, the defendant successfully avoided the death penalty. The court held:

Even where a defendant pleads guilty to avoid a death sentence and upon entering his plea testified that he is innocent, such a plea is not involuntary where, upon the advice of counsel, he was pleading guilty to limit the penalty he might receive.

Id. at 658-659. No such motivation exists in the instant case.

Even if no error is perceived in the acceptance of the pleas, the trial court should have granted Appellant's motion to withdraw his plea. Rule. 3.170(f), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that at any time prior to sentencing the trial court "may in its discretion, and shall upon good cause" permit a defendant to withdraw a guilty plea. Appellant recognizes that a motion to withdraw a plea is a matter left to the sound discretion of the trial court. Reyes v. Kelly, 224 So.2d 303 (Fla. 1969). However, a motion to withdraw a plea should be liberally construed in favor of the defendant. Adler v. State, 382 So.2d 1298 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980). The law inclines toward a trial on the merits. Morton v. State, 317 So.2d 145 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975). A defendant should be permitted to withdraw a plea "if he files a proper motion and proves that the plea was entered under mental weakness, mistake, surprise, misapprehension, fear, promise, or other circumstances affecting his rights. Baker v. State, 408 So.2d 686, 687 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982) (emphasis added); Accord Yesnes v. State, 440 So.2d 628 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

In the instant case, it is clear that despite the plea colloquy Appellant was motivated to enter his pleas by fear that his son would be hurt if he persisted with the trial. As a result of these fears, he became depressed and suicidal. These fears and suicidal tendencies manifested themselves the very night after Appellant entered his pleas, when he tried to kill himself by hurling himself head first from the second floor onto a concrete floor. Even Dr. Wilder testified that he did not think Appellant was imagining the danger to his son. Appellant showed good cause to withdraw his plea. The denial of his motion was clearly an abuse of discretion. Appellant is entitled to a new trial

POINT II

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