#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GEORGE PORTER, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILE SID J. WHITE

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

FEB 28 1989

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER #239161 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

The same holds true here. Porter's jury was correctly apprised of its advisory role. Caldwell, which explicitly refused to reverse California v. Ramos, 463 U.S. 992 (1983), clearly permits the giving of correct information to a jury.

The Appellant's claim that telling the truth somehow violates the constitution has, of course, already been rejected.

Pope v. State, 496 So.2d 798 (Fla. 1986); Foster v. Dugger, 518 So.2d 901 (Fla. 1987); Banda v. State, 13 F.L.W. 451 (Fla. 1988); Cave v. State, 13 F.L.W. 455 (Fla. 1988); Preston v. State, 13 F.L.W. 341 (Fla. 1988); Grossman v. State, 13 F.L.W. 127 (Fla. 1988).

Mr. Porter's jury was correctly instructed that its role was advisory. Like the jury in Spaziano, it should not have been told it was sentencing Porter when in fact it was not. In fact, had the jury been so told, what impact would Porter's eventual life sentence (an override) have had on the jury's respect for the system?

Finally, the State rejects the notion that a jury will blithely and carelessly "sentence" a man to die if it knows that ultimate responsibility rests elsewhere. This theory fails to ascribe any humanity to jurors and, frankly, stems from the debunked suspicion that "Witherspoon qualified" jurors are somehow "prosecution biased". We submit that sentencing someone to death is so unpleasant a task that jurors are more likely to vote for "life" and leave the unpleasantness to the judge. (Indeed, the vast majority of "overrides" in this state involve death sentences imposed after a life recommendation). Thus, the basic, speculative premise behind Porter's Caldwell claim in untenable.

Mr. Porter's sentence was clearly supported by the record and there is nothing before us to indicate either that the jury was misled or that his death sentence was improper. Absent error or prejudice, relief must be denied.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE MURDER WAS ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS AND CRUEL

Mr. Porter's challenge to the application of Section 921.141(5)(h), Florida Statutes, can be broken down into three parts:

- (A) The constitutionality of the statute.
- (B) The propriety of the instruction given to the advisory jury.
- (C) The application of this factor to this case.

Each of these questions will be addressed in order.

# (A) The Constitutionality of §921.141(5)(h), Florida Statutes

Mr. Porter correctly concedes that this issue was not raised at trial and was therefore not preserved for appellate review. Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982); Mitchell v. State, 13 F.L.W. 330 (Fla. 1988).

Without waiving this default, the State submits that Porter's claim is nonetheless without merit.

Porter relies heavily upon the recent United States Supreme Court decision in Maynard v. Cartwright, \_\_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 100 L.Ed.2d 372 (1988). While Porter is correct in stating that the Court criticized Oklahoma's (then) existing "Heinous-Atrocious-Cruel" (hereafter "H.A.C") aggravating factor, his brief fails to

correctly analyze the case. It also fails to note that Oklahoma has retained a properly channeled "H.A.C." factor which the high court did not strike.

In Oklahoma, sentencing is handled by the jury rather than the trial judge. The jury in Maynard, as sentencer, was told it could sentence the defendant to death if his crime was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel but offered the sentencers no guidance. The Supreme Court said:

Since **Furman**, our cases have insisted that the channeling and limiting of the sentencer's discretion in imposing the death penalty is a fundamental constitutional requirement.

Id., at 380.

Thus, the "sentencer", the jury, had no guidance either in the form of statutory definitions or interpretive caselaw. This, of course, was the same problem confronted in **Godfrey** v. **Georgia**, 446 U.S. 420 (1980).

It is important to note, however, that Maynard, supra, at 381 compares the Godfrey case to Proffit v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1976), noting its approval of the Florida "H.A.C." statute. Godfrey itself, of course, cites Proffit with approval and even recognized that Georgia's "H.A.C." statute was facially constitutional (it was merely unconstitutional as applied). See Godfrey, supra, at 446 U.S. 422.

In **Barclay** v. **Florida**, 463 U.S. 939 (1983), Florida's application of its "H.A.C." statute was subjected to a Godfrey analysis and the Supreme Court found that Florida's statute was constitutional both as written (**Proffit**, supra) and as applied.

Mr. Porter forgets (as is obvious by his meritless Caldwell claim), that Maynard, Godfrey, et al, require channeling of the sentencer's discretion. The sentencer in Florida is the judge, not the jury, Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447 (1984), and in announcing his sentencing decision on the "H.A.C." factor, Judge Antoon clearly was guided by the decisional law of the Court as well as the statute. (R 2440-2443). Indeed, Judge Antoon applied this factor to Evelyn's murder but not to the murder of Mr. Burrows, thus proving careful application of the aggravating factor.

### (B) The Propriety of the Jury Instruction

Here, again, Porter did not preserve the issue for appellate review by offering an objection. Clark, supra; Steinhorst, supra.

Mr. Porter could arguably analogize the relationship between the statute and jury instruction at bar to that of the statute and jury instruction addressed in **Hitchcock** v. **Dugger**, 481 U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 95 L.Ed.2d 347 (1987), in a effort to avoid default. There are several reasons why this argument must fail:

- (1) Unlike **Hitchcock,** here the State is asserting its procedural defenses.
- (2) Unlike Hitchcock, here both the statute and its application have been upheld without confusion or equivocation.
- (3) Unlike **Hitchcock**, the record of what the sentencer did (and his compliance with the constitutional standard) is complete.

Hitchcock was characterized as being "new law" due to the fact that there was confusion among the lower courts, prior to 1979, as to whether non-statutory mitigating evidence could be considered. Due to the spectre of error, this Court elected to undertake a case-by-case harmless error analysis.

In our case, while interpretations of the record may vary, the standards governing the "H.A.C." factor are known and undisputed.

The advisory jury, of course, does not make specific findings regarding the applicability of any statutory or non-statutory aggravating or mitigating factors. We do not know if Porter's jury agreed with the judge, or if it applied "H.A.C." to both murders, or whether it applied it to either murder. That is pure speculation and conjecture. Since we do not reverse binding verdicts on speculation, Sullivan v. State, 303 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1974), we assuredly should not reverse a valid sentence simply because of speculation regarding a non-binding recommendation to the final sentencer. <sup>2</sup>

Therefore, we suggest that even if the jury instruction at bar did not sufficiently guide the **non-sentencer**, any such error is harmless even though this is a capital case. See e.g., **Grossman v. State**, **13** F.L.W. 127 (Fla. 1988).

Again, the State does not waive the procedural defense at bar, but it would suggest in all candor that the Court revisit

We would further note the presence, in this case, of a "downward" jury override regarding Mr. Burrows. Thus, Porter cannot argue that the judge was obliged to rubber-stamp the jury due to the "Tedder" rule.

its standard jury instruction and possibly expand it to avoid future appeals, or worse, a **Hitchcock** style flood of collateral proceedings.

## (C) The Application of H.A.C. to this Case

The State agrees with Mr. Porter that **State** v. **Dixon**, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973), provides both the sentencer and this Court with the "channeling" necessary to apply "H.A.C." in a constitutional manner and thus must be followed. Obviously, for H.A.C. to apply the crime must not be "ordinary" but must have special or unique attributes which heighten or elevate it beyond the so-called "norm".

Judge Antoon's order, we submit, satisfies this test.

Porter subjected Evelyn Williams to a protracted reign of terror: slashing her car's tires, ramming her car with his own, smashing car windows and telephoning death threats against her and her daughter.

When Porter killed Evelyn, he shot her several times. He watched her crawl for her life from room to room, he cornered her in her den, he stood over her as she pleaded "Oh my God" and shot her, inflicting "defensive" wounds and non-fatal body-shots that caused a slow and agonizing death over as much as ten minutes.

When Amber Williams got to her mother, Evelyn reached out to her with her hand. As Amber called for help, her mother was conscious and struggling to breathe.

In his brief, Porter sloughs off this agony with a blithe reference to dying "in just minutes". To imagine her agony, one need just try to go without air, while in pain and scared, for even "a few minutes". it cannot be done.

Mr. Porter attempts in vain to equate this case with a number of easily distinguishable cases, which the State shall dispose of in order:

In **Lewis** v. **State**, 398 So.2d 432 (Fla. 1981), the defendant fired a shotgun into a house and then fled. There was nothing in the record to distinguish this sniper attack.

In **Kampff** v. **State**, 371 So.2d 1007 (Fla. 1979), the female victim, though shot three times, died instantly from a shot to the head.

In Menendez v. State, 368 So.2d 1278 (Fla. 1978), a shopkeeper was found dead and there was no evidence regarding the circumstances of his suffering, if any.

In **Lewis** v. **State**, 377 So.2d 640 (Fla. 1979), the victim was shot while trying to escape but, again, the record is undistinguished.

In **Simmons** v. **State**, 419 So.2d 316 (Fla. 1982), the victim was **not** female, as Porter alleges. The victim was the woman's husband, who died instantly from an axe-blow to the head. The victim never knew what hit him.

In **Teffeteller** v. **State**, 439 So.2d 840 (Fla. 1983), there was no record evidence of fear anticipation or torture, even though the victim died slowly.

In Herzog v. State, 439 So.2d 1372 (Fla. 1983), the victim did not suffer at all. She died while unconscious.

The threats, fear, torture, anticipation of death and slow death documented at bar compares more with the following cases in which "H.A.C." was found and upheld:

In Ruenoanno v. **State**, 13 F.L.W. 401 (Fla. 19881, the slow poisoning of the victim over two weeks distinguished the crime.

In **Turner** v. **State**, 13 F.L.W. 427 (Fla. 19881, an exhusband burst into his ex-wife's home and stabbed her to death, then he pursued her roommate to a telephone booth and killed her. The roommate's flight, terror and attempt to save herself met the test for "H.A.C."

In **Hildwin v. State**, 13 F.L.W. 528 (Fla. 19881, the victim endured a sexual battery and pled for her life.

In **Harvey v. State**, 13 F.L.W. 399 (Fla. 1988), the robbery victims were executed after having to listen to the defendant discuss having to shoot them. The female victim was shot, but left alive until the defendant returned to finish her off.

The facts of this case, again, fall squarely within this distinctive category.

#### ARGUMENT

## IV

# THE MURDER WAS COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED

This aggravating factor is not limited to "contract killings", Turner v. State, 13 F.L.W. 427 (Fla. 1988); Lamb v. State, 13 F.L.W. 531 (Fla. 1988), and is clearly present in this case.

As noted above, the victim was repeatedly threatened. Turner v. State, supra. Porter procured his weapon in advance and was prepared to kill when he arrived. Lamb v. State, supra; Huff v. State, 495 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1986); Davis v. State, 461 So.2d 67 (Fla. 1984); Harvey v. State, supra. Porter even planned an alibi in advance (the delivery and sale of his van to Litus). See Huff v. State, supra.

This murder was devoid of the spontaneity of those cases relied upon by the Appellant. Still, Porter tries to allege the murders were unplanned by noting his "failure" to shoot Amber, the fact that he threatened Amber and John Williams "the most", the fact that he shot Evelyn rather than "cut her up", and finally the "fact" that the mere procurement of a gun, standing alone, proves simple premeditation and not more.

We respond by noting that killers are not required to "guarantee" either the cause of death or the total number of victims in order for this factor to apply. We do not know if Amber would have died because Mr. Burrows interfered with Porter's attack, thus saving Amber's life. Porter did more than

just get a gun. Porter cased Evelyn's neighborhood, drove the escape route, told at least one witness she would "read about it in the papers", arranged an alibi (with a criminal attorney, yet) for 7 a.m. on the day of the crime and at the same time arranged for disposal of his get-away vehicle!

More planning went into this crime, we submit, than the Appellant cares to admit.

#### **ARGUMENT**

V

THE APPELLANT'S DEATH SENTENCE FOR THE MURDER OF EVELYN WILLIAMS SHOULD BE AFFIRMED REGARDLESS OF THE OUTCOME OF THE ARGUMENTS IN POINTS III AND IV

Two wrongs do not make a right. The Appellant's improper life sentence for the Burrows murder should not require a similar sentence for the Williams murder in the event that Porter, somehow, prevails on counts three and four of his appeal.

Two aggravating factors and no mitigating factors apply to these murders even if "heinous, atrocious or cruel" and "cold, calculated and premeditated" are removed. (This fact is conceded by Mr. Porter). In addition, the advisory jury recommended a death sentence in both murders. The jury's recommendation is subject to analysis under the standards of Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975), even when the recommendation is death. Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1988), revised, 13 F.L.W. 349 (Fla. 1988); Ross v. State, 386 So.2d 1191 (Fla. 1980); LeDuc v. State, 365 So.2d 149 (Fla. 1978). Death, presumptively, was the appropriate sentence for both murders. State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973); Foster v. State, 369 So.2d 928 (Fla. 1979).

Judge Antoon gave Porter a life sentence for the Burrows murder simply because he disagrees with the statutory aggravating factors that are "technical" in nature. Judge Antoon's personal feelings do not meet the Tedder standard, but unfortunately they

are not, once erroneously applied, appealable. See **Brown** v. **State,** 521 So.2d 110 (Fla. 1988).

The question before this Court, therefore, is whether the concept of "proportionality" requires the **compounding** of judicial error simply for the sake of "proportionality". This suggestion is unrealistic and unsupportable.

In order to provide Porter relief, the Court will basically be required to "abolish" the statutory aggravating factors of "prior conviction of a violent felony" and "murder during the commission of a felony". See §921.141(5)(b)(d), Florida Statutes, since "proportionality" would not be limited to just Mr. Porter's two sentences but, rather, would apply to everyone on death row. [The other approach, to simply exempt Mr. Porter from the provisions of the statute by himself is, of course, too meritless to consider].

A sentence of death on the basis of the two aggravating factors noted above, without any mitigating factors, would be proportionate to the sentences upheld in Alderidge v. State, 351 So.2d 942 (Fla. 1977); Jackson v. State, 359 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 1978). In Alderidge, the court "disregarded" a challenged application of "H.A.C." and said death was proper even if only two factors (murder by one under sentence and murder during a robbery), both "technical", were applied. Both of Carl Jackson's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For this reason we have not pursued our cross-appeal. This office does not know whether the State Attorney could have petitioned for certiorari, as suggested by **Brown**, because it is not known whether he had notice that Judge Antoon intended to violate **Tedder**. It would seem, by now, that the Burrrows sentence is untouchable.

death sentences were supported by "technical" grounds (i.e., "during a robbery, during flight, during kidnapping, avoiding

## **ARGUMENT**

## <u>VI</u>

## THE DEATH PENALTY IS CONSTITUTIONAL

Mr. Porter candidly confesses that his collection of arguments regarding capital punishment are without merit and have been rejected. No further briefing is required except that the State does not waive any defense of "failure to object" or failure to preserve these issues below.

#### CONCLUSION

The judgment and sentence at bar should be affirmed.